
 
REGULAR MEETING GENDA

LY 29  
 

NOTE: All attendees are reminded to silence cellular phones and other devices 
that may cause interruption of the session proceedings. 

CALL TO ORDER –

ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMUNICATIONS

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA OF THE DAY

ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES

• June 24, 2025 – Regular Meeting
• July 8, 2025 – Work Session & Public Hearing
• July 15, 2025 – Special Called Meeting

CITYY OFF PINEE LAKE 
425 ALLGOOD ROAD
P.O. BOX 1325
PINE LAKE, GA 30072

404-999-4901

www.pinelakega.net

MAYOR
Brandy Hall 

COUNCILL MEMBERSS 
Jean Bordeaux, Mayor pro tem
Jeff Goldberg
Tom Ramsey
Thomas Torrent
Augusta Woods

Blast 

ADJOURNMENT

PUBLIC COMMENTS – 3 minutes each please 

PUBLIC COMMENTS – 3 minutes each please 

CONSENT AGENDA
1. Resolution R-2025-50 Alcoholic Beverages Privilege License Application –

Silver's Caribbean Restaurant, 4634 Rockbridge Road SW – On-Premises
Retail Sale and Consumption

2. Resolution R-2025-51, Establishing 2025 Municipal Election Qualifying Dates
3. Resolution R-2025-52, Rejection of 2025 LMIG Resurfacing Project Bids

1. Resolution R-2025-53, AECOM Task Order #3 – Pine Lake Dam Inspection
2. Resolution R-2025-54, Records Management System (RMS) Upgrade
3. Resolution R-2025-55, City of Milton's Multi-City Amicus Brief
4. Resolution R-2205-56, Embrace Civility (City of Civility Renewal)



Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Special Called Meeting to order at 6:00PM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Jean Bordeaux, Council Members 
Jeff Goldberg, Tom Ramsey, Thomas Torrent, and Augusta Woods. Also present 
were City Manager Stanley Hawthorne, City Attorney Chris Balch, Public Works 
Director Bernard Kendrick, Officer Danette Washington, and Acting City Clerk 
Ned Dagenhard. Chief of Police Sarai Y’Hudah-Green and Finance Director 
Danny Lamonte were not in attendance. 

Announcements/Communications 

Mayor Hall stated that the third and final public hearing regarding the City’s 2025 
millage rate would take place on June 26th at 6:00PM, to immediately proceed 
consideration of millage rate adoption. Mayor Hall added that it was alleviating 
tax burden is “always the long term goal” as the City balances “short term and 
visible improvements.” The Mayor then commended the City on a “great” 
Juneteenth event, adding thanks to Council Member Woods and Mayor pro tem 
Bordeaux, who organized the event’s planning committee. 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux added thanks to volunteers, and a comment about 
pleasant weather. 

Council Member Ramsey stated that the new City of Pine Lake tent was erected 
for the event; Council Member Woods added that it looked “great!” 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Council Member Torrent asked that Consent Agenda Item 8 be moved to Old 
Business, to provide an opportunity for discussion. 

Council Member Ramsey asked that Consent Agenda Items 1, 2, and 3 be 
moved to Old Business, to provide an opportunity for discussion. 

Council Member Torrent moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day, as amended; 
Council Member Ramsey seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 



Page 2 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Adoption of the Minutes 
• May 27, 2025 – Regular Meeting 
• June 10, 2025 – Work Session & Special Called Meeting 
• June 19, 2025 (11:00AM) – Public Hearing 
• June 19, 2025 (6:00PM) – Public Hearing 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux moved to adopt the Minutes; Council Member Torrent 
seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

Proclamations 

1. National Police Week 

Mayor Hall read the Proclamation in its entirety, and provided for its issuance.  

Consent Agenda 

1. Resolution R-2025-42, Community Greenspace Master Plan Task Order 

2. Resolution R-2025-43, Procurement of Emergency Generator 

3. Resolution R-2025-44, Facilities Alarm Monitoring Services 

4. R-2025-45, Acceptance of Police Cruiser In-Kind Donation 

Council Member Torrent moved to approve the Consent Agenda; Council 
Member Goldberg seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 

 



Page 3 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Old Business 

1. Resolution R-2025-46, 2025 Memorandum of Understanding: City and 
PLAIN 

Council Member Torrent moved to adopt Resolution R-2025-46; Council Member 
Ramsey seconded. 

Council Member Torrent spoke to the Council’s desire to ensure PLAIN and the 
City are “on the same page” regarding free, public use of the City’s two rentable 
facilities. Mayor pro tem Bordeaux expressed concern regarding calendar 
management, particularly as it pertains to staff impact. 

Further topics of discussion included updating entry-point locks at the two 
facilities, and dissuading residents from attempting to use the facilities for veiled 
commercial purposes. 

Major changes to the Memorandum of Understanding were namely the addition 
of Sundays for public use of facilities, and removal of mutual indemnification 
language at the recommendation of the City Attorney.  

Mayor Hall called for a voted. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 4 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

2. Ordinance 2025-02, Chapter 16 Public Nuisances – Second Read & 
Adoption 

City Attorney Balch performed the second read of Ordinance 2025-02. 

Council Member Ramsey moved to adopt Ordinance 2025-02; Council Member 
Goldberg seconded. 

Points of discussion included use of electric-powered vehicles, swimming and 
wading permissions, and skateboarding.  

The Clerk observed a motion for two amendments, which were restated for the 
record by City Attorney Balch as follows: 

• The striking of Chapter 16-36 (c), Section 13. 
• The removal of the phrase, “or wading,” from Chapter 16-36 (c), Section 

14(b)* 
• The removal of the clause, “This prohibition shall not apply to scooters or 

bicycles powered by electric motors.” From Chapter 16-36 (c), Section 15. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

3. Resolution R-2025-39, Restoration of 470 Clubhouse Drive Storage (AKA 
“Firehouse”) 

Council Member Torrent moved to adopt Resolution R-2025-39; Council Member 
Goldberg seconded. 

Public Works Director Kendrick fielded questions from Mayor Hall and Council 
Member Goldberg regarding use of the proposed storage area by the public, as 
the Public Works Director proposed granting part of the space for use by the 
PLAIN food pantry. Specifically, concern was raised as to whether the space 
would be physically differentiated to prevent public access to privileged records. 
The Public Works Director assured concerned parties that the space would be 
separated, with restricted access to City records.  

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

 All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 



Page 5 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

4. Resolution R-2025-40, Renovations to 425 Allgood Road (“City Hall”) 

Council Member Goldberg moved to adopt Resolution R-2025-40; Council 
Member Torrent seconded. 

Public Works Director Kendrick presented a project scope for renovations to City 
Hall, which are focused on interior changes to office space, as a means of better 
accommodating current and prospective staff. 

Council Member Ramsey expressed concern over prioritizing City administration 
buildings over public-use facilities, namely the Beach House. Public Works 
Director Kendrick responded that large-scale issues related to the Beach House 
infrastructure render the building’s renovation a “big lift,” but added that he would 
prepare a scope of work for presentation at the City Council July 8th Work 
Session. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

5. Resolution R-2025-41, Restoration and Facility Improvements to 463 
Clubhouse Drive (“Public Works Building”) and 470 Clubhouse Drive 
(“Pine Lake Clubhouse”) 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux moved to adopt Resolution R-2025-41; Council 
Member Goldberg seconded. 

Public Works Director Kendrick presented renovations to the Pine Lake 
Clubhouse and Public Works Building. In the case of the former, Mr. Kendrick 
cited rotting subfloor and the need for cosmetic updates. In the case of the latter, 
he discussed security concerns vis-à-vis exterior doors, as well as siding 
replacement. 

Council Member Ramsey inquired as to whether installation of bathroom facilities 
was necessary at the Public Works Building. Mr. Kendrick replied that installation 
would be cost prohibitive, and the need negligible due the building’s proximity to 
other bathroom facilities.  

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 



Page 6 of 6 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 at 6:00 PM 
Courthouse & Council Chambers 

459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

New Business 

1. Resolution R-2025-47, Proposed Revisions to Pine Lake Personnel Policy 

Council Member Torrent moved to adopt Resolution R-2025-47; Council Member 
Ramsey seconded. 

City Manager Hawthorne expressed to Council that impending disciplinary 
actions necessitate a change in the City’s personnel policy. City Attorney Balch 
added that the changes would better reflect the City’s 2024 Charter Amendment, 
which altered the form of government from “Strong Mayor” to “Council-Manager.”  

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

Reports and Other Business 

 Staff 

Public Works Director Kendrick asked that the public be notified of work trucks 
parking near the tennis court complex, ahead of rehabilitation project initiation. 

City Council 

Council Member Torrent stated that the annual Pride Lake “Gayla” would take 
place at the Pine Lake Clubhouse, the following Saturday at 6:00PM  

Adjournment 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux moved for adjournment at 8:02PM. 

 
 

 
           Ned Dagenhard  

Acting City Clerk 

 



Page 1 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION & PUBLIC HEARING 

MINUTES 
July 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Work Session to order at 6:00PM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Jean Bordeaux, Council Members 
Jeff Goldberg, Tom Ramsey, Thomas Torrent, and Augusta Woods. Also present 
were City Manager Stanley Hawthorne, City Attorney Chris Balch, Chief of Police 
Sarai Y’Hudah-Green, Public Works Director Bernard Kendrick, and Acting City 
Clerk Ned Dagenhard. Finance Director Danny Lamonte was not in attendance. 

Public Hearing 

1. Alcoholic Beverages Privilege License Application – Silver’s Caribbean 
Restaurant, 4634 Rockbridge Road SW – On-Premises Retail Sale and 
Consumption 

A public hearing was held. The applicant spoke in support of their own 
application. No comments from the public—in support of or against—were 
observed. 

No action was taken by City Council. 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day; Council 
Member Torrent seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION & PUBLIC HEARING 

MINUTES 
July 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

New Business 

1. Senior Property Tax Relief Program 

Council Member Ramsey presented information regarding property tax 
calculations, as well as senior exemption programs in neighboring cities. In 
concluding his presentation, Mr. Ramsey proposed an exemption program for 
the City of Pine Lake, citing concern over an increasing tax burden on residents 
who may rely heavily on fixed income sources. 

Points of discussion included weighing the upfront cost of a study analyzing the 
impact to City revenue over time, as well as the legal and administrative 
expenses associated with lobbying within the Georgia General Assembly, under 
whose jurisdiction proposed tax exemptions fall. In general, a consensus for 
theoretical support for senior tax relief was observed. The City Manager stated 
that, in response, he would request an impact study quote from the Carl Vinson 
Institute of Government. 

Various additional points were discussed by the City Manager, such as the City’s 
funding sustainability and “uniqueness” relative to neighboring cities.  

Council Member Ramsey expressed a sense of urgency around the issue, 
asking that the City continue discussion prior to the City Council Fall Retreat. 

Mayor Hall thanked the City Council and participating staff for the discussion. 

No action was taken by City Council. 

2. Street Resurfacing Update, Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) 

Public Works Director Kendrick recommended to City Council the rejection of all 
bids received as part of the LMIG-funded “street resurfacing” project. Mr. 
Kendrick cited concern over a misrepresentation of street length which, he 
added, is a tactic used by contractors to inflate the quote presented. The official 
reason given for rejection, Mr. Kendrick stated, was “nonresponse,” since once 
pressed on the incorrect numbers, no contractor responded completely. 

Council Members Goldberg and Ramsey inquired further about the process in 
preparing for bids, as well as which streets would be omitted from the project 
proposal and why. To the former query, Mr. Kendrick responded that he 



Page 3 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION & PUBLIC HEARING 

MINUTES 
July 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

performs his own measurements of the streets ahead of time, so that he can 
discern whether any proposals received are attempting to artificially inflate costs. 
To the latter query, Mr. Kendrick stated that those streets not included are 
pending centerline sewer repair by DeKalb County. 

Additional points of discussion involved the timeline for receipt- and appropriation 
of LMIG funds. 

No action was taken by City Council. 

3. Beach House Renovation, Project Scope Presentation 

Public Works Director Kendrick presented a scope of work for renovation of the 
Pine Lake Beach House. Improvements included grease trap replacement, 
various repairs and upgrades to the kitchen and bathroom facilities, as well as 
interior and exterior cosmetic improvements. 

Mayor Hall expressed concern over applying further funding to facility 
improvements while the total cost of repairs to the wetland system remains 
unknown. The Mayor inquired as to whether certain tiers or project phases could 
be extracted from the full scope. Mr. Kendrick responded that since much of the 
facilities would need full replacement, citing poor overall condition of the facility, 
cost differences in a piecemeal approach would be negligible. 

The topic then shifted to a discussion of Public Works Department expectations 
as it relates to day-to-day maintenance. 

No action was taken by City Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 4 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION & PUBLIC HEARING 

MINUTES 
July 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

4. Pine Lake/Snapfinger Creek Dam Inspection 

Public Works Director Kendrick advised City Council that the City’s previous 
engineering authority had—in his professional opinion—not performed due 
diligence in assessing the condition of the dam between the lake and Snapfinger 
Creek.  

Mr. Kendrick approximated a quote of $28,000 for full assessment of the dam 
condition in cooperation with the City’s current engineering authority, AECOM, 
and the organization Georgia Safe Dams (Environmental Protection Division). 
Mr. Kendrick added that while a quote for repair to the dam would not be known 
until after the assessment, he did not expect it to be “anywhere near [the 
previous quote of] $900,000.” 

Mayor Hall, in reflecting on walking the dam with the City’s previous engineering 
authority and Council Member Woods, recalled a lackadaisical approach to tree 
removal, which was cited as the chief reason for the high cost of repair due to its 
destabilizing impact on the dam itself. 

No action was taken by City Council. 

Reports and Other Business 

Strategic Performance Report (SPR) 

The City Manager, Chief Green, and Public Works Director Kendrick each 
presented excerpts from the July 2025 Strategic Performance Report. Topics 
included sustainable development plans, community outreach, and capital 
project updates. 

Chief Green presented an update on code compliance goals and actions, 
introducing reserve-Officer Anthony Brooks, who has been tasked with helping to 
develop the initiative. 

Mayor 

Mayor Hall announced the completion of the Oak Road project, adding special 
thanks to the Public Works Director, and describing the issue as “having been on 
the docket for as long as I’ve been in Pine Lake.” The Mayor also described the 
evening as having been focused on strategic priorities, thanking Council and 



Page 5 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION & PUBLIC HEARING 

MINUTES 
July 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

staff. The Mayor also gave special thanks to Chief Green for her continued 
service to the City, citing an anecdote wherein the Chief once responded to a 
hostage situation, donning a bulletproof vest while nine months pregnant. 

 City Council 

Council Member Ramsey thanked staff for the July SPR, stating that it appears 
to further improve with each edition.  

Council Member Goldberg announced that the Georgia Power tree trimming 
project was still underway, adding that a new removal company has been 
contracted. 

Adjournment 

Council Member Torrent motioned for adjournment was made at 8:50PM. 

 
 

 
            Ned Dagenhard  

 Acting City Clerk 



Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

MINUTES 
July 15, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Special Called Meeting to order at 6:00PM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Jean Bordeaux, Council Members 
Jeff Goldberg, Tom Ramsey, Thomas Torrent, and Augusta Woods. Also present 
were City Attorney Chris Balch, Chief of Police Sarai Y’Hudah-Green, and Acting 
City Clerk Ned Dagenhard. City Manager Stanley Hawthorne, Public Works 
Director Bernard Kendrick, and Finance Director Danny Lamonte were not in 
attendance. 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day; Council 
Member Goldberg seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

MINUTES 
July 15, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

New Business 

1. Resolution R-2025-49, Approval for Media Production Permit 2025-001 

Council Member Torrent motioned to adopt Resolution R-2025-49; Council 
Member Goldberg seconded. 

City Attorney Balch stated that the meeting was a result of a tactical error due to 
misalignment of institutional assumptions and actual Code clauses, calling for 
City ownership of any application approval delays. The City Attorney added 
appreciation for City Council making themselves available on short notice, and 
asked that the ordinance and resulting process be later reviewed and updated. 

Mayor Hall invited the applicant(s) to speak to production impact, as well as what 
safeguards would be installed to minimize any potential negative impact to the 
community.  

Members of Council asked questions regarding the length of the production 
schedule, loudness, and application completeness. 

The applicant stated that any lighting would be shrouded and “ground based,” 
and that the production team is familiar with filming in areas sensitive to noise. 

Acting City Clerk Dagenhard stated that the applicant’s certificate of liability 
insurance had been received by City Hall that afternoon. City Attorney Balch 
added that the City was also in receipt of a signed indemnification agreement. 

Council Member Ramsey asked whether City Council’s passage of a resolution 
of support “[carried] any weight,” citing a Code section which grants the City 
Manager or an administrative designee approving authority. City Attorney Balch 
replied in the affirmative, calling the briefing Council and receiving an expression 
of the body’s will both appropriate and helpful to staff. 

 Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

 All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

MINUTES 
July 15, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

 

Adjournment 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux motioned for adjournment was made at 6:15PM. 
 

 

 
            Ned Dagenhard  

 Acting City Clerk 





Resolution R-2025-50 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL OF AN ON-PREMISES RETAIL SALE 
AND CONSUMPTION ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION FOR THE PREMISES AT 
4634 ROCKBRIDGE ROAD, PINE LAKE, GEORGIA, AND FOR OTHER MATTERS  

 
WHEREAS, An complete application, as determined by the Acting City Clerk, for a new alcohol 

license at 4634 Rockbridge Road was filed and received by the City for on premises 
sale and consumption of malt beverages, distilled spirits and wine for a new 
business to be known as Silver’s Caribbean Restaurant; and  

 
WHEREAS, The Governing Authority for the City held a Public Hearing on the Application as 

required by City of Pine Lake Code of Ordinances § 10-34 during its Work Session 
on July 8, 2025, at which no opposition was voiced by the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Governing Authority for the City of Pine Lake expressly finds that all 

conditions for issuance of the license applied for have been met, the application 
meets the criteria and conditions established by Municipal Ordinance for the 
issuance of the License, and finds no disqualifying or other negative circumstances 
have been established in the record as authorized by the Ordinance;  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 

Lake, Georgia, that the application filed and completed by Silver’s Caribbean Restaurant is 
APPROVED and the Acting City Clerk is directed to issue the license pursuant to Code of 
Ordinances § 10-35. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of July, 2025. 
 
 

 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 































Resolution R-2025-51 

A RESOLUTION SETTING AND APPROVING THE PERIOD FOR CANDIDATES TO 
QUALIFY TO RUN FOR ELECTION TO OFFICE AS A CITY COUNCILMEMBER, TO 

AUTHORIZE SIGNATURE BY THE MAYOR OF NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, TO ALLOW 
FOR CORRECTION OF SCRIVENER’S ERRORS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Pine Lake (“Pine Lake) is a Georgia Municipal Corporation, authorized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Pine Lake as restated in 2024, provides for the biennial 

election of ½ of the Governing Authority as provided in Code of Ordinances 
Section 5.11, and 

 
WHEREAS, The Governing Authority has already set the qualifying fees for candidates who 

wish to seek municipal office by Resolution 2025-01, and 
 
WHEREAS, The seats currently held by Councilmembers Woods, Bourdeaux, and Ramsey shall 

expire on December 31, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, State law requires the City to set and establish the period of qualifying during which 

prospective candidates must register and qualify to be placed on the ballot in 
November; 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake, in an open and 
public meeting, sets the Qualifying period for municipal elections for the period August 18, 2025 
beginning at 8:30 a.m. until August 22, 2025 at 4:30 p.m., that the prospective candidate must 
qualify with the Elections Superintendent of the City, must meet the qualifications set forth in the 
Charter at Section 2.11 to seek and hold the office they seek as well as any and all qualifications 
set by General law of the State of Georgia for municipal office holders, and must pay the qualifying 
fee set by the Council in Resolution 2025-01, passed on January 28, 2025,  that the Mayor is 
authorized to sign any and all documents necessary to give effect to this resolution, and the Acting 
City Clerk is authorized, in conjunction with the City Attorney, to correct any scrivener’s errors in 
this Resolution.  
 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of July 2025. 
 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 



�����������	��
�����������
������������������������������������������������������������������
��

� � ��

� !"#$�%&'()$!$*+",$-�*&.�/##�$,$*.+�/)$�#"+.$01�2!$�(3)(&+$�&4�.!"+�%/#$*0/)�"+�.&�()&,"0$�"*4&)'/."&*�&*�0$/0#"*$+�4&)�$#$%."&*�/%.","."$+1� !$*�.!$�#/+.�0/5�4&)�.!$�$6$)%"+$�&4�/*5�()","#$7$�&)�0"+%!/)7$�&4�/*5�03.5�4/##�&*�/�8/.3)0/5-�83*0/5-�&)�#$7/#�!&#"0/5-�.!$�*$6.�+3%%$$0"*7�93+"*$++�0/5�+!/##�9$�.!$�#/+.�0/5�.&�$6$)%"+$�+3%!�03.51�:1;1<1=1�>�?@A?A@B1���;#"%C�.!$�#"*C�.&�/%%$++�DEFEGEHE�IJIKL�MN�O�LKLFIJDP�FDQL�� LKLFIJDP� LKLFIJDP�QHIL� HQRHPFL�RDIJPG�QHILS� TLGJSITHIJDP�QLHQKJPL�SUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�� ^Y_Ẁ�Nab�McMd� eVf_gY_h�Mi�O�̂Y_Ẁ�Ni� MjNajMcMd�SUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�Tg]\kk�� HU_XZ�Ndb�McMd� Hl�l\\]�Yl�U\llXfZVb�fg[�]\�ZY[V_�[̀Y]�HU_XZ�m�O�HU_XZ�NN� MjNajMcMd�SUVWXYZ�n_XoY_h�ngfZXW�SV_pXWV�F\ooXllX\]V_�qnSFr�jSUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]� sg]V�Nmb�McMd� ^Yh�Mm�O�sg]V�Nt� djNujMcMd�SUVWXYZ�n_XoY_h�Tg]\kk�ngfZXW�SV_pXWV�F\ooXllX\]V_�qnSFrjSUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�Tg]\kk� sgZh�Ndb�McMd� Hl�l\\]�Yl�U\llXfZVb�fg[�]\�ZY[V_�[̀Y]�sgZh�m�O�sgZh�NN� djNujMcMd��SUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]� SVU[VofV_�Nvb�McMd� Hgwgl[�Md�O�SVU[VofV_�NM� ajNajMcMd�SUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�Tg]\kk� DW[\fV_�Nib�McMd� Hl�l\\]�Yl�U\llXfZVb�fg[�]\�ZY[V_�[̀Y]�DW[\fV_�v�O�DW[\fV_�Nc� ajNajMcMd�^g]XWXUYZ�GV]V_YZ�jSUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�O�ngfZXW�SV_pXWV�F\ooXllX\]V_�qnSFr� P\pVofV_�ib�McMd� DW[\fV_�Ni�O�DW[\fV_�tN� NcjvjMcMd�^g]XWXUYZ�GV]V_YZ�jSUVWXYZ�LZVW[X\]�Tg]\kk�O�ngfZXW�SV_pXWV�F\ooXllX\]V_�qnSFr� QVWVofV_�Mb�McMd� Hl�l\\]�Yl�U\llXfZVb�fg[�]\�ZY[V_�[̀Y]�P\pVofV_�Mi�O�P\pVofV_�Ma� NcjvjMcMd���x$%$'9$)�yz-�?z?B� eJTSI�QH{�ID�HFFLnI�H|SLPILL�HnnKJFHIJDPS�eDT�I}L�̂HTF}�Na[̀�SnLFJHK�LKLFIJDP�~6%$(.�/+�&.!$)�"+$�()&,"0$0�"*�;&0$�8$%."&*�?@A?A?@��&)�4&)�/0,/*%$�,&."*7�0$+%)"9$0�"*�+39+$%."&*��0��"4�;&0$�8$%."&*�?@A?Ay��-�*&.�$/)#"$)�.!/*����0/5+�&)�#$++�.!/*�@@�0/5+�()"&)�.&�.!$�0/.$�&4�.!$�()"'/)5�&)�$#$%."&*-�&)�)3*&44�&4�$".!$)-�"*��!"%!�.!$�$#$%.&)�0$+")$+�.&�,&.$-�/*5�/9+$*.$$�$#$%.&)�'/5�'/C$-�$".!$)�95�'/"#-�4/%+"'"#$�.)/*+'"++"&*-�95�$#$%.)&*"%�.)/*+'"++"&*�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)3*&441�:1;1<1=1�>�?@A?Ay�@�/��@��=����/*3/)5�@-�?z?�� LHTKJLSI�QH{�eDT��TJIL�JP�FHPQJQHILS�ID�eJKLjn |KJS}�PDIJFL�De�JPILPI�

Ned Dagenhard
Rectangle



�����������	��
�����������
������������������������������������������������������������������
����

� � ��

� !"!#$�%&'�()(*� +,-./�012�/3�14456/�17.58/55�1669,41/,38.�+3-�/:5�83;5<75-�=>?�@585-19A.654,19�5954/,38�BCDEF$�G#�H$IEJKL#E�FJHMLNEN�LO�PHNE�QED$LHO�(%R(R(%S�HJ�THJ�GNMGODE�MH$LO"�NE#DJLUEN�LO�#!U#ED$LHO�VNW�LT�PHNE�QED$LHO�(%R(RX&*'�OH$�EGJYLEJ�$IGO�Z&�NG[#�HJ�YE##�$IGO�%%�NG[#�FJLHJ�$H�$IE�NG$E�HT�$IE�FJL\GJ[�HJ�EYED$LHO'�HJ�J!OHTT�HT�EL$IEJ'�LO�KILDI�$IE�EYED$HJ�NE#LJE#�$H�MH$E'�GO[�GU#EO$EE�EYED$HJ�\G[�\G]E'�EL$IEJ�U[�\GLY'�TGD#L\LYE�$JGO#\L##LHO'�U[�EYED$JHOLD�$Ĵ_̀ab̀̀bc_d�ce�b_�fgèc_�b_�hig�egjb̀hêek̀�ce�̂l̀g_hgg�l̂mmch�nmgeok̀�cppbngd�̂_�̂ffmbn̂hbc_�pce�̂_�cppbnb̂m�l̂mmch�cp�hig�gmgnhcek̀�fegnb_nh�hc�lg�qchgr�̂h�̀sni�febâ etd�gmgnhbc_d�ce�J!OHTTu�vuPuwu u�x�(%R(RX&%VGWV%WV W� � !"!#$�%&'�&yX)�Gu\u�$IJH!"I� !"!#$�(('�zyX)�Fu\u�� <{8,4,619�|{19,+2,8@�65-,30�BGDI�DGONLNG$E�THJ�\!OLDLFGY�HTTLDE�HJ�G�NE#L"OEE�#IGYY�TLYE�G�OH$LDE�HT�DGONLNGD[�LO�$IE�cppbng�cp�hig�as_bnbf̂m�̀sfgeb_hg_rg_h�cp�̀sni�n̂_rbr̂hgk̀�as_bnbf̂mbht�rseb_j�hig�as_bnbf̂mbhtk̀�}ŝmbptb_j�FEJLHNu�BGDI�\!OLDLFGY�#!FEJLO$EONEO$�#IGYY�NE#L"OG$E�$IE�NG[#�HT�$IE�~!GYLT[LO"�FEJLHN'�KILDI�#IGYY�UE�OH�YE##�$IGO�$IJEE�NG[#�GON�OH�\HJE�$IGO�TLME�NG[#u��IE�NG[#�HT�$IE�~!GYLT[LO"�FEJLHN�#IGYY�UE�DHO#ED!$LME�NG[#u��!GYLT[LO"�FEJLHN#�#IGYY�DH\\EODE�OH�EGJYLEJ�$IGO�&yX)� u�u�HO�$IE�$ILJN��HONG[�LO� !"!#$�L\\ENLG$EY[�FJEDENLO"�$IE�"EOEJGY�EYED$LHO�GON�#IGYY�EON�OH�YG$EJ�$IGO�zyX)��u�u�HO�$IE�THYYHKLO"��JLNG[��GON'�LO�$IE�DG#E�HT�G�#FEDLGY�EYED$LHO'�$IE�\!OLDLFGY�~!GYLT[LO"�FEJLHN�#IGYY�DH\\EODE�OH�EGJYLEJ�$IGO�$IE�NG$E�HT�$IE�DGYY�GON�#IGYY�EON�OH�YG$EJ�$IGO�(*�NG[#�FJLHJ�$H�$IE�EYED$LHOu�(%R(R%X(�VNWVzW�� !"!#$�(('�()(*� 05109,85�/3�.580�436,5.�3+�6399��1/4:5-�05.,@81/,38�95//5-.�/3�.{65-,8/58058/�� $�YEG#$�$IJEE�NG[#�FJLHJ�$H�$IE�UE"LOOLO"�HT�$IE�GNMGODE�MH$LO"�FEJLHN'�G�DHF[�HT�$IE�YE$$EJ�#IGYY�UE�NEYLMEJEN�$H�$IE�#!FEJLO$EONEO$�GON�$IE�DILET�JE"L#$JGJ�HT�$IE�DH!O$[�HJ�\!OLDLFGYL$[�LO�KILDI�$IE�FHYY�KG$DIEJ�L#�$H�#EJMEu�vuPuwu u�x�(%R(Rz)&VUWVXWV W��QB���!YE�%&XR%R%XRu)X�� !"!#$�(('�()(*� 91./�012�/3�43<<5845�93@,4���144{-142�/5./,8@���IE�YG#$�NG[�THJ�$IE�#!FEJLO$EONEO$�$H�$E#$�EGDI�NLJED$�JEDHJNLO"�EYED$JHOLD�!OL$�GON�\E\HJ[�DGJN�$H�DHOTLJ\�$IG$�$IE�NLJED$�JEDHJNLO"�EYED$JHOLD�!OL$#�GON�$IE�\E\HJ[�DGJN#�GJE�LO�FJHFEJ�KHJ]LO"�HJNEJ�L#�$IE�$ILJN�NG[�FJEDENLO"�$IE�EYED$LHOu��EFJE#EO$G$LME#�HT�FHYL$LDGY�FGJ$LE#�GON�UHNLE#'�\ENLG�GON�$IE�F!UYLD�#IGYY�UE�FEJ\L$$EN�$H�HU#EJME�$IE�$E#$#u�vuPuwu u�x�(%R(RXZSu�VDW��QB���!YE�%&XR%R%(Vu)XW�

Ned Dagenhard
Rectangle





Resolution R-2025-52 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO 
REJECT ALL BIDS SUBMITTED IN RESPONSE TO THE CITY’S REQUEST FOR 

PROPOSALS AS AUTHORIZED BY COUNCIL ACTION ON JUNE 24, 2025 DUE TO 
THE PROPOSALS RECEIVED NOT BEING ADEQUATELY RESPONSIVE TO THE 

CITY’S REQUESTS AND NEEDS AS DEFINED IN THE BID DOCUMENTS 
 

WHEREAS, The Governing Authority authorized the release of bid documents and solicitations 
for proposals for LMIG funded resurfacing projects within the City of Pine Lake 
on June 24, 2025; and  

 
WHEREAS, The City posted the Requests for Proposal on or about June 8, 2025; and opened 

sealed bid packets on July 3, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Administration and the Bid Review Committee have determined that all bids 

are not responsive to the documents and conditions identified in the bid documents;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, the City Manager, or his designee, is authorized to reject as non-responsive all bids 
received by the City and to re-release new bid documents to the public for review and response by 
qualified applicants. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of July, 2025. 

 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Assistant City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO:             Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: July 29, 2025  

TITLE:  Pine Lake Dam Inspection 

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution for the acceptance of the proposal from AECOM for $13,422 to conduct an inspection 
of the Pine Lake Dam and the authorization of a pending proposal from Avalon Tree Services in the amount 
of $12,500 to provide slope mowing services to manage the vegetation of the downstream dam face for 
inspection access.

BACKGROUND
The Public Works Director and I recommend the noted dam inspection to ensure the health and safety of 
the structure and to formally document any deficiencies of the structure.  Noted deficiencies will be assessed 
and engineering and construction estimates will be presented for approval and action.  

AECOM will utilize Georgia Environmental Protection Division Safe Dam protocols for inspection. 
AECOM will conduct an existing data review, perform the dam inspection, and generate an inspection 
report to utilize in the development of engineering and construction remedies for noted deficiencies.  The 
slope mowing services will require the closure of the Pine Lake Dam walking trail for approximately three 
(3) days.  The dam inspection will commence shortly after vegetation management has concluded.

RESOURCE IMPACT
This project shall be funded using the Small Cities Intergovernmental Agreement Fund 300.   The line 
item for this expenditure shall be 300.0000.0000.52140 (Contracted Services).

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution 
AECOM Proposal
Avalon Tree Services Bid



Resolution R-2025-53 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING EXPENDITURES FOR PINE LAKE DAM INSPECTION BY 
AECOM AND AVALON TREE SERVICES FOR MAINTENANCE OF THE DAM, TO 

AUTHORIZE SIGNATURE BY THE MAYOR OF NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, TO ALLOW 
FOR CORRECTION OF SCRIVENER’S ERRORS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Pine Lake (“Pine Lake) is a Georgia Municipal Corporation, authorized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Pine Lake as restated in 2024, authorizes the City to 

contract for necessary city services, and 
 
WHEREAS, The City’s on-call engineering contractor has provided a task order estimate of 

$13,422 to conduct a civil engineering inspection under the State of Georgia’s Safe 
Dams Program protocols, and 

 
WHEREAS, The City has received an estimate from Avalon Tree Services in the amount of 

$12,500 to perform maintenance and mowing services to the down stream slope of 
the dam as required for inspection access; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Administration has provided a funding source and line item for this project as 

being specifically authorized in the SPLOST II Intergovernmental Agreement with 
DeKalb County in an amount up to $50,000; 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake, in an open and 
public meeting, approves the task order to AECOM and the contract with Avalon Tree Services in 
an amount not to exceed $25,922 that the Mayor is authorized to sign any and all documents 
necessary to give effect to this resolution, and the Acting City Clerk is authorized, in conjunction 
with the City Attorney, to correct any scrivener’s errors in this Resolution.  
 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of July 2025. 
 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 



 

  

 

aecom.com 
 

 
 

1/3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
Bernard Kendrick 
Public Works Director 
City of Pine Lake 
425 Allgood Road 
Pine Lake, GA 30072 
bernardkendrick@pinelakega.net 
 

  AECOM 
One Midtown Plaza  
1360 Peachtree Street, NE 
Suite 500 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
aecom.com 
 

 
June 05, 2025 
transmitted via email   
 

  
 

Task Order 03 Proposal Pine Lake Dam Inspection 
    On-Call Engineering Services for City of Pine Lake 

 
Dear Bernard: 

AECOM appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal to assist the City of Pine Lake in 
assessing the condition of the Pine Lake Dam. 

The proposed project scope includes one-time inspection of Pine Lake Dam located in the City of 
Pine Lake (City), DeKalb County to visually inspect the current condition of the dam.  

1 Scope of Work 

A. Existing Data Review 

 AECOM will review available design or as-built drawings and past inspection reports 
provided by the City. We will conduct a EPD file search if existing drawings/reports are not 
available.  

B. Dam Inspection 

 AECOM will coordinate with the City to schedule the one-time inspection. 

C. Inspection Report 

 AECOM will prepare a draft report summarizing the results of the inspection, including the 
inspection form supplemented by photos for Pine Lake Dam. The draft report will be 
submitted for City review. Once comments are addressed, AECOM will submit the final 
report to the City. 

2 Deliverable 

AECOM will produce an inspection report that includes: 

 A summary of any issues identified in the drawings or file search that have not been 
addressed will be included in the visual inspection results. 

 GA Safe Dam Embankment Form/Check List. 



 
 
 

  
 

 

 

aecom.com 2/3
 

 Photographs will include crest, upstream slope, downstream slope, any notable features 
and areas that require corrective actions. 

 

3 Schedule 

Estimated duration to complete this task is 30 calendar days. Dam inspection will be tentatively 
performed in July 2025 when AECOM Sr. Professional Engineer is available in Atlanta to reduce 
costs. 

 

No. Phase 
Duration 

(Calendar Days) 

1 Existing Data Review 14 

2 Dam Inspection 2 

3 Inspection Report 14 

Total 30 

4 Proposed Fee 

AECOM effort for this TASK Order 03 for proposed scope of services is: 

Task PM 
Sr . Prof. 

Eng. ENG II 
Admin  
Assit Total 

$226  $285  $135  $105  
1. General           
Project Management & Coordination 8     4 12 

Subtotal Hours 8     4 12 
Subtotal Cost $1,808      $420  $2,228  

2. Dam Inspection           
Review of Existing Drawings and Reports 2 4 6  12 
Dam Inspection 1 12 12  25 
Inspection Report 1 4 12  21 

Subtotal Hours 4 20 34  58 
Subtotal Cost $904 $5,700 $4,590  $11,194 

Total Hours 12 20 34 4 70 
Total Cost $2,712 $5,700 $4,590 $420 $13,422 

 

This work will be performed on a time and materials basis in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of AECOM’s consulting services agreement. AECOM will not exceed the estimated total 
fee without prior authorization from the City.  



 
 
 

  
 

 

 

aecom.com 3/3
 

5 Assumptions and Exclusions 

The following is assumed and excluded from our scope of services: 

 Assumptions 

o AECOM will coordinate with the City to gain access to the dam site 

 Exclusions 

o Design services for remediation or preparation of cost estimates.  

o Coordination with the GA EPD Safe Dams if needed. 

o Site survey and investigations 

 

If you should have any questions during your review of this proposal, or if you desire additional 
information, please contact me at 404.295.6087  (tina.houston@aecom.com) or Shahid Jamil at 
404.330.7068 (shahid.jamil@aecom.com). 

 

Sincerely,  

  

 
Tina S. Houston         Shahid Jamil 
Vice President, Water CI, GA/AL/TN     Project Manager 
AECOM Technical Services, Inc.    
 
 



ESTIMATE
Avalon Tree Services LLC
375 Rockbridge Rd NW Ste 172-
253
Lilburn, GA 30047

info@avalontrees.com
+1 (770) 807-4444
www.avalontrees.com

Bill to

Bernard Kendrick
425 Allgood Road
Pine Lake, GA 30072
United States

Ship to

Bernard Kendrick
425 Allgood Road
Pine Lake, GA 30072
United States

Estimate details

Estimate no.: 2976
Estimate date: 07/09/2025

# Date Product or service Description Qty Rate Amount

1. Services Prune underbrush and small trees up
to 1 foot by the creek side.

(Job will take 3 days to complete)

*No heavy equipment will be used.

1 $12,500.00 $12,500.00

Note to customer
Thank you and have a great day!

This quote is valid for the next 30 days, after which values may be
subject to change.

Total $12,500.00

Accepted date Accepted by

mailto:info@avalontrees.com
tel:+17708074444
http://www.avalontrees.com/




Resolution R-2025-54 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CONTRACT AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 
EXECUTE ANY AND ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE CHANGE OF VENDOR 
FOR COURT RECORD SERVICES FROM COURTWARE SOLUTIONS TO JUSTICE ONE 

SOLUTIONS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Pine Lake (“Pine Lake) is a Georgia Municipal Corporation, authorized 
and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia, and 

 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Pine Lake as restated in 2024, authorizes the City to 

contract for necessary city services, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Administration has informed the Council that the City’s current vendor for 

Court and Police records maintenance has ceased support for the product used by 
the City, and 

 
WHEREAS, the Governing Authority expressly finds that the option provided by JusticeOne at 

a monthly flat fee of $900 ($10,800 annually) presents the best and most cost-
effective option for the City’s utilization of records management. 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake, in an open and 
public meeting, approves the contract with JusticeOne for providing all records management for 
police and court services at an annual cost not to exceed $10,800, that the Mayor is authorized to 
sign any and all documents necessary to give effect to this resolution, and the Acting City Clerk is 
authorized, in conjunction with the City Attorney, to correct any scrivener’s errors in this 
Resolution.  
 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of July 2025. 
 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 



 



 

 

 

 

 



 







Resolution R-2025-55 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE, GEORGIA (the “CITY”) AUTHORIZING 
PARTICIPATION IN AN AMICUS BRIEF IN THE CHANG V. CITY OF MILTON APPEAL PENDING 

BEFORE THE GEORGIA SUPREME COURT 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chang v. Milton litigation involves a claim of liability against the City of Milton, 
Georgia, for personal injuries due to a 2016 vehicle collision with a fixed obstruction (a masonry 
planter) located on City-owned right of way where the obstruction was outside the motoring lanes of 
travel; 
 
 WHEREAS, the masonry planter had been at the same location since 1992 and had never 
been the subject of a complaint or prior accident;  
 
 WHEREAS, at the trial court, the City of Milton was found to be partially at fault and a jury 
awarded money damages against the City of Milton of $35,000,000; 
 
 WHEREAS, on September 16, 2024, the Court of Appeals affirmed the findings of the trial 
court, City of Milton v. Chang, et. al., 373 Ga. App. 667 (2024) (Court of Appeals ruling); 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 24, 2025, the Supreme Court of Georgia granted certiorari, Supreme 
Court docket number S25G0476; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Georgia Supreme Court identified three issues upon which it wanted the 
Parties to focus in their appellate briefing: 
 

1. Is the design and placement of objects on a shoulder of a roadway part of the ministerial 
duty of a municipality to keep its “streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition” or is 
it a governmental function? Compare Mayor, Etc., of Dalton v. Wilson, 118 Ga. 100 (44 SE 
830) (1903) with Town of Fort Oglethorpe v. Phillips, 224 Ga. 834 (165 SE2d 141) (1968). 
See generally OCGA § 36-33-1.  

 
2. Is the placement of a planter on the shoulder of a roadway a “defect[] in the public roads of 

[the municipality’s] municipal street system”? See OCGA § 32-4-93 (a). 
 

3. For municipal immunity to be waived under the circumstances of this case, must the 
plaintiff show that the municipality violated its ministerial duty to keep its “streets and 
sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition” and that the planter on the shoulder of the 
roadway is a “defect[] in the public roads of [the municipality’s] municipal street system”? 
Please address the interplay between OCGA § 36-33-1 and OCGA § 32-4-93 (a). 

 
 WHEREAS, the CITY believes that answers to the above legal questions are of significant 
value to its citizens and residents;  
 

WHEREAS, the CITY believes that Supreme Court guidance on such questions may lead to 
the Court of Appeals ruling being overturned  



Resolution R-2025-55 

 
 WHEREAS, the CITY believes the Court of Appeals ruling is inconsistent with existing legal 
precedent; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY believes that it is in the best interests of the health, welfare, and safety 
of its citizens that the Court of Appeals ruling be reversed and that the questions presented by the 
Supreme Court be answered in a way that benefits Georgia’s’ cities. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, each of the “WHEREAS” paragraphs above are 

expressly adopted as the findings and conclusions of fact by the Governing Authority, that the CITY 
does hereby expressly authorize participation in an amicus brief before the Georgia Supreme Court 
asking that the Court of Appeals ruling be reversed and that the Supreme Court’s three proffered 
questions be answered in a way that is legally advantageous to Georgia’s cities.  An amicus brief so 
tendered may include the City’s name as a participating party. The Mayor is expressly authorized to 
sign, on behalf of the City in her representative capacity, the brief prepared and filed by Council for 
Amici Georgia Cities. 

 
This 29th day of July, 2025. 
 
 
        ________________________________ 

       BRANDY HALL, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
             
Ned Dagenhard     Christopher D. Balch 
Acting City Clerk     City Attorney 
 
[SEAL] 





Resolution R-2025-56 

A RESOLUTION 
PLEDGING TO PRACTICE AND PROMOTE CIVILITY IN THE CITY OF PINE LAKE 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Pine Lake (the “Council”), the governing body of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia (the “Municipality”), recognizes that robust debate and the right to self-expression, as 
protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, are fundamental rights and essential 
components of democratic self-governance; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council further recognizes that the public exchange of diverse ideas and viewpoints is 
necessary to the health of the community and the quality of governance in the Municipality; and 

WHEREAS, the members of City Council, as elected representatives of the community and stewards of the 
public trust, recognize their special role in modeling open, free and vigorous debate while maintaining the 
highest standards of civility, honesty and mutual respect; and 

WHEREAS, City Council meetings are open to the public and thus how City officials execute their legal 
duties is on public display; and 

WHEREAS, civility by City officials in the execution of their legislative duties and responsibilities fosters 
respect, kindness and thoughtfulness between City officials, avoiding personal ill will which results in 
actions being directed to issues made in the best interests of residents; and 

WHEREAS, civility between City officials presents an opportunity to set a positive example of conduct and  
promotes thoughtful debate and discussion of legislative issues, resulting in better public policy and a 
more informed electorate while also encouraging civil behavior between residents; and  

WHEREAS, civility between City officials is possible if each member of the elected body remembers that 
they represent not only themselves, but the constituents of their district and City; and 

WHEREAS, in order to publicly declare its commitment to civil discourse and to express its concern for the 
common good and well-being of all of its residents, the City Council has determined to adopt this 
resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION ONE 

The City of Pine Lake pledges to practice and promote civility within the governing body as a means of 
conducting legislative duties and responsibilities. 

SECTION TWO 

The elected officials of the City Council enact this civility pledge to build a stronger and more prosperous 
community by advocating for civil engagement, respecting others and their viewpoints, and finding 
solutions for the betterment of the City of Pine Lake. 

SECTION THREE 

This pledge strives to ensure that all communication be open, honest, and transparent as this is vital for 
cultivating trust and relationships. 

 

 



Resolution R-2025-56 

SECTION FOUR 

This pledge strives to show courtesy by treating all colleagues, staff and members of the public in a 
professional and respectful manner whether in-person, online or in written communication, especially 
when we disagree. 

SECTION FIVE 

This pledge strives to ensure mutual respect to achieve municipal goals, recognizing that patience, 
tolerance and civility are imperative to success and demonstrates the City Council’s commitment to 
respect different opinions, by inviting and considering different perspectives, allowing space for ideas to 
be expressed, debated, opposed, and clarified in a constructive manner. 

SECTION SIX 

This pledge demonstrates our commitment against violence and incivility in all their forms whenever and 
wherever they occur in all our meetings and interactions.  

SECTION SEVEN 

The City of Pine Lake expects members of the public to be civil in its discussion of matters under 
consideration by and before the City Council, with elected officials, staff, and each other.  
 

ADOPTED this ___ day of ____________, 20__. 

 
 
              
Mayor       Council Member 
 
 
              
Council Member     Council Member 
 
 
              
Council Member     Council Member 
 
 
 
       
City Attorney 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
City Clerk 



Embrace Civility (gacities.com)  

Civility is more than just politeness. It is about disagreeing without disrespect, seeking common ground 
as a starting point for dialogue about differences, listening past one’s preconceptions and teaching 
others to do the same. Civility is the hard work of staying present even with those with whom we have 
deep-rooted and fierce disagreement.* 

Why Civility Matters for Cities and Organizations 

• Civil behavior and speech are critically important to a healthy, functional and respectful 
society. 

• A 2019 survey revealed that 93 percent of Americans believe that incivility is a problem, 
with 68 percent identifying incivility as a major problem.** 

• Cities need a plan to counteract the growing polarization and challenges caused by 
incivility. 

 

"Civility fosters respect, trust, and belonging. By modeling and practicing civility, city and organization 
leaders set an expectation that vigorous debate and vetting of ideas can be respectful and productive, 
leading to better engagement and outcomes for all. " 

Larry Hanson, CEO and Executive Director, Georgia Municipal Association 

9 Pillars of Civility 

Be considerate of others’ opinions. It’s ok to agree to disagree. 

Manage your emotions. Get curious instead of furious. 

A silent voice is not always a weak voice. Sometimes it’s ok not to respond. 

Be Kind! Make your point about the issue, not the person. 

Actively listen, to learn how to Engage respectfully! 

Think about the impact of your actions and not the intent. 

Ask questions to learn. Answer questions with respect. 

Remember the acronym QTIP (Quit Taking It Personal). 

Have empathy! Just because you have not experienced it, does not mean it does not exist. 

 


	7 29 2025 Agenda [DRAFT]
	final - CAMs ALL 7 29 2025



